584792

No. 68479-5-I

#### DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFFREY BEDE, as Personal Representative of the Estate of LINDA SKINNER, Deceased,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

OVERLAKE HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER, a Washington corporation, and PUGET SOUND PHYSICIANS, PLLC, a Washington corporation,

Defendants/Appellants.

#### ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Beth Andrus)

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF (REPLACEMENT)

Mary K. McIntyre WSBA No. 13829 MCINTYRE & BARNS, PLLC 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 925 Seattle, WA 98121 Telephone: (206) 682-8285 Facsimile: (206) 682-8636

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

Appellants Overlake Hospital Medical Center and Puget Sound

Physicians, PLLC, assign the following errors:

- 1. The trial court erred by denying PSP's motion to bar rebuttal testimony by Dr. John D. Loeser. RP (12/9/11) 76:24-78:24; CP 853.
- 2. The trial court erred by denying PSP's renewed motion to bar rebuttal testimony by Dr. Loeser. RP (12/21/11) 675:3-4.
- 3. The trial court erred by denying PSP's motion to bar rebuttal testimony by Dr. Loeser on standard of care. RP (1/3/12) 1567:16-1570:6.
- 4. The trial court erred by denying surrebuttal testimony. RP (1/3/12) 1569:6-12.
- 5. The trial court erred by excluding autopsy photos for being produced after close of discovery. See RP (12/19/11) 13:23-25.
- 6. The trial court erred by denying PSP's motion for reconsideration of the autopsy photo ruling. See RP (12/20/11) 282:22-286:12.
- 7. The trial court erred by excluding autopsy photos for not being listed as exhibits by a local rule deadline. See RP (12/20/11) 282:22-286:12.
- 8. The trial court erred by excluding the autopsy photos under ER 403. See RP (12/20/11) 282:22-286:12.
- 9. The trial court erred by denying PSP's second motion for reconsideration of the autopsy photo ruling. See RP (12/27/11) 982:4-10.
- 10. The trial court erred by excluding the autopsy photos for a violation of the initial exclusion ruling. See RP (12/27/11) 982:4-987:22.
- 11. The trial court erred by denying the Defendants' motion for new trial. See CP 1354-69 (App. A).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Assuming they have any obligation relating to findings of fact under RAP 10.4(c) pertaining to this order and the order supplementing it, Defendants are attaching copies of these orders and yellow highlighting the language to which error is assigned.

12. The trial court erred by denying Defendants' supplemental motion for new trial. *See* CP 1739-40 (order) (App. B).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The following issues pertain to the assignments of error:

1. Exclusion of Autopsy Photo Evidence.

Does a trial court err in excluding autopsy photos, and related expert testimony, in a medical malpractice trial, when: (1) the photos and testimony were material to the jury's resolution of the issues of standard of care and causation; and (2) none of the stated reasons for excluding the evidence can be sustained as a matter of law or fact (sanction for late production in discovery; noncompliance with a local rule deadline; inadmissible under ER 403; sanction for violating the court's initial exclusion ruling)? (Assignments of Error Nos. 5 through 12.)

#### 2. Rebuttal and Surrebuttal Testimony.

• Does a trial court err in allowing a plaintiff to present the testimony of an expert in rebuttal, when that expert's testimony: (1) is either cumulative of testimony presented in the plaintiff's case-in-chief, or offers new opinions that constitute substantial evidence supporting issues for which the plaintiff had the burden of proving in its case-in-chief; and in either case (2) the defendant presented no expert testimony that was inconsistent with, or a deviation from, testimony previously known to the plaintiff? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1 through 3.)

• Does a trial court also err in refusing to allow a defendant to present testimony in surrebuttal, when the plaintiff has been allowed to present new evidence on material issues in rebuttal? (Assignment of Error No. 4.)

#### I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Linda Skinner died of a bacterial infection. Her Estate sued

Overlake Hospital and Puget Sound Physicians, the practice group whose

doctors staff Overlake's emergency room. The Estate alleged Dr. Laurie

Anderton, a board-certified emergency room physician, breached the standard of care and caused Ms. Skinner's death

According to the Estate, bacteria got into the "meningeal" lining of Ms. Skinner's brain, triggering life-threatening but treatable bacterial meningitis. On January 26, 2010, Ms. Skinner was taken to the Overlake emergency room where her symptomology, elevated white blood cell count, and an MRI all pointed to bacterial meningitis. But instead of ordering a lumbar puncture that would have confirmed meningitis and initiating antibiotics treatment that would have saved her life, Dr. Anderton sent Ms. Skinner home with pain medicine for a neck strain, and she died the next day.

The Defendants focused on surgery Ms. Skinner had in 2006 to remove an acoustic neuroma (a fibrous noncancerous tumor) in her right inner ear. A follow-up procedure to stop fluid leakage sealed off the surgical site, producing an enclosed space immediately adjacent to her brain. According to the Defendants, sometime before January 26, 2010, bacteria got into this space; an infection set in, and pus and bacteria accumulated to form an abscess. Sometime between 9 and 10 a.m. on January 26, after Ms. Skinner had been admitted to the Overlake emergency room, the abscess ruptured into her brain and triggered an infection that no course of treatment could have arrested. The rupture also eased pressure that had caused pain to radiate into Ms. Skinner's head, causing such an improvement in her condition that Dr. Anderton could reasonably conclude Ms. Skinner did not have bacterial meningitis.

A King County jury returned a divided verdict for the Estate (11-1 on standard of care; 10-2 on causation), and awarded \$3,000,000 in damages. This closely contested case must be retried, for two reasons.

*First*, the trial court erred when it excluded autopsy photos, and expert testimony based on those photos.

The autopsy pathologist reported finding pus at the acoustic neuroma surgical site, and autopsy photos showed pus at the site. PSP (but not the Estate) requested the photos in discovery. Overlake did not immediately produce them but as discovery unfolded the photos become irrelevant, because the parties' experts agreed that pus as well as bacteria had broken into Ms. Skinner's brain from the surgical site. Then, one week after the King County Superior Court Civil Local Rule 4 deadline for final disclosure of trial exhibits had passed, and 14 days before the start of trial, *the Estate changed its theory of the case*. After disclosing new opinions from expert witness Dr. John Loeser questioning whether pus as well as bacteria had been present at the surgical site, the Estate withdrew expert witness Dr. Richard Cummins who had testified a rupture of pus and bacteria from that site was the source of Ms. Skinner's infection. PSP contacted Overlake about the photos, Overlake produced them to PSP and the Estate, and PSP notified the Estate that PSP intended to use them (e.g., when cross-examining the Estate's experts). The Estate moved to strike, and the trial court granted the motion. Ultimately the court gave four reasons for excluding the photos and any expert testimony based on them, *none* of which can sustain the court's ruling:

The court initially struck the photos as a sanction for being (1)produced after discovery closed. But the court failed to balance on the record the factors set forth by the Supreme Court in Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), and failed to make the findings required by *Burnet* before such a sanction may be imposed. The court never addressed those factors until it denied the Defendants' postjudgment motion for new trial. Such balancing in hindsight may not substitute for the on-the-record balancing that must take place when the court is first called upon to impose the sanction of exclusion. Moreover, the court's belated balancing fails on the merits. Under Burnet, the threshold requirement for excluding evidence is a willful discovery violation. The trial court equated willfulness with lack of good cause, impermissibly watering down the willfulness requirement. Moreover, the court's willfulness finding fails on its own terms. The autopsy photos only became relevant after the Estate's eleventh-hour change in its theory of the case, to which PSP promptly responded by asking Overlake to produce the photos pursuant to PSP's discovery request, and to which Overlake promptly responded by producing the photos to PSP and the Estate. Such conduct cannot be called a "willful" discovery violation by any legally reasonable definition of the term.

(2) The court next struck the photos because they were not listed as trial exhibits in compliance with a deadline established by King County Local Civil Rule 4. King County Local Civil Rule 4 effectively replaces the *Burnet* requirement of an *affirmative showing* by the *objecting party* of a *willful* discovery violation, with a *presumption of exclusion* unless the *proffering party* proves "good cause" for relief from that presumption. Local rules may not trump the Civil Rules, and *Burnet*'s requirements are Civil Rule requirements. Moreover, the Defendants satisfied the rule's good cause standard, because there was no reason to designate the photos as exhibits until the Estate changed its theory of the case, and that happened *after* the deadline.

(3) The court also excluded the photos on grounds of "gruesomeness" under ER 403. Photographic evidence, however, may not be excluded just because it is "gruesome." Instead, a trial court must balance the relevance of the evidence against the potential to inflame the jury against the party objecting to the evidence, and may exclude only if

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 6**

the evidence's probative value is substantially outweighed by its inflammatory impact. Here, the photos were highly probative and any inflammatory effect could have been fully avoided by limiting which photos the jury saw. Moreover, as only the Defendants risked a jury backlash for introducing "shocking" photos, *the Estate had no standing to object* on gruesomeness grounds.

(4) Finally, the court struck the photos as a sanction for a supposed violation of the court's initial exclusion ruling. The court got its facts wrong. The court's notes reflected that PSP's trial counsel had questioned Estate expert Dr. David Talan about "the" autopsy photos; the court stated it would have been a different matter had counsel only asked about autopsy photos in general. But as the transcript shows, *defense counsel only asked about autopsy photos in general*. Moreover, excluding relevant evidence for a violation of a ruling *that should never have been made in the first place* is an indefensibly disproportionate sanction.

The Defendants' expert, Dr. Francis Riedo, would have testified that the autopsy photos confirmed that an abscess located at the acoustic neuroma surgical site erupted a mass of pus and bacteria into Ms. Skinner's brain, unleashing an infection that no course of treatment could have arrested while also causing an improvement in symptomology from which a reasonably prudent physician could have ruled out bacterial meningitis. While the Estate would have disputed Dr. Riedo's interpretation of the photos, it was for the jury to resolve that conflict. Because the trial court denied the jury that chance, there must be a new trial on standard of care and causation.

*Second*, the trial court erred by allowing the Estate's expert Dr. Loeser to testify in rebuttal instead of during the Estate's case-in-chief, and in denying the Defendants any surrebuttal to Loeser's testimony.

The trial court allowed the Estate to call Dr. Loeser in rebuttal because the trial court believed a plaintiff is entitled to "the last word"; a trial, however, is not a debate, and a plaintiff in a civil damages action is *not* entitled to the last word. The court allowed Dr. Loeser to testify in rebuttal on standard of care *and* causation, while refusing the Defendants any surrebuttal. On standard of care, Dr. Loeser echoed what Drs. Siegel and Talan said during the Estate's case-in-chief -- a powerful reinforcing echo, of which the Estate made much in closing argument. The trial court later acknowledged that Dr. Loeser's standard of care testimony was substantially cumulative of the Estate's case-in-chief, but failed to recognize it therefore should have granted a new trial on standard of care because it had allowed the Estate an unfair advantage that it fully exploited in closing argument. On causation, Dr. Loeser offered several new opinions to which the Defendants were denied the chance to respond

by surrebuttal. The reasonable probability that this tipped the scales, on an issue on which the jury divided 10-2, is undeniable. The court's rebuttal and surrebuttal errors thus *also* mandate a new trial on standard of care and causation.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Parties.

Ms. Linda Skinner was 64 when she died while undergoing treatment for a bacterial meningitis infection. Her estate (through her son Jeffrey Bede, its Personal Representative) brought a medical malpractice action against Overlake Hospital and Puget Sound Physicians, whose emergency care specialists staff Overlake's emergency room. The Estate alleged that Dr. Laurie Anderton, a PSP member board certified in emergency medicine, breached the standard of care while treating Ms. Skinner, and that this breach caused her death. The Estate sought damages for Ms. Skinner's death, and for her three adult children (Jeffrey, Samantha, and Christopher).

#### B. The Contending Cases.

After hearing the contending cases summarized below, the jury deliberated for four days and then returned a divided verdict in the Estate's favor on standard of care (11-1) and causation (10-2). CP 1034 (verdict form at 1); RP (1/11/12) 2028:8-2034:11 (responses by individual jurors),

2041:22-2043-6 (clarification as to vote of Juror "Firage"<sup>2</sup> on causation).

#### 1. The Estate's Case.

On January 22, 2010, during a plane flight to Seattle, changing air pressure induced a "barotrauma," squeezing bacteria-containing fluid into Ms. Skinner's brain from an immediately adjacent cavity. RP (12/22/11) 761:20-762:6 (Dr. Talan). The cavity was left over from surgeries Ms. Skinner underwent in 2006 for the removal of an acoustic neuroma (a fibrous noncancerous tumor) located in her right inner ear. *Id.* 762:7-16, 756:19-766:3 (Dr. Talan). The penetration of Ms. Skinner's brain did not involve a catastrophic rupture akin to the bursting of an abscess. RP (1/3/12) 1668:20-1672:16 (Dr. Loeser); *see also* RP 12/22/11) 797:7-800:1 (Dr. Talan). Nor did the bacteria-containing fluid also contain pus. RP (12/22/11) 811:12-812:8, 820:9-821:6 (Dr. Talan) (fluid and bacteria, but not "true pus," present in the surgical site); RP 1/3/12) 1709:18-25 (Dr. Loeser) (bacteria, not "purulent fluid," leaked from the site).

The bacterial intrusion set in motion a classic case of bacterial meningitis. Bacterial meningitis is an infection of the "meninges," a system of membranes that cover the brain and spinal cord. RP (12/21/11) 519:22-520:2 (Dr. Siegel). When bacteria penetrate the meninges, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The court reporter spelled Juror Phayaraj's name phonetically. See CP 1234-36 (Dec. of Juror K. Phayaraj). (The Defendants are not assigning error to the trial court's ruling striking a declaration from Juror Phayaraj, see CP 1363-64 (order at 10-11) (striking dec.), given the Supreme Court's recent decision in Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).

body responds by sending white blood cells to attack the bacteria, inflaming the meninges; unchecked, the ensuing swelling eventually causes death. *Id.* 520:5-6, 546:5-11 (Dr. Siegel). A "classic" "triad" of symptoms is traditionally associated with bacterial meningitis: (1) fever; (2) "nuchal rigidity"<sup>3</sup>; and (3) altered mental status, to which some add headache. *Id.* 524:3-20 (Dr. Siegel). The triad is seen in 44 percent of bacterial meningitis patients; two of the four symptoms are seen in 95 percent of patients. *Id.* 524:11-20 (Dr. Siegel).<sup>4</sup>

Ms. Skinner was brought to the Overlake emergency room the afternoon of January 25, complaining of fever, headache, and neck pain. *See* Def. Ex. 101 (p. 3, "NOTES").<sup>5</sup> She was diagnosed with an "influenza-like illness"<sup>6</sup> and a "cervical" strain (attributed to her having

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The parties disputed what qualifies as nuchal rigidity. Estate expert Dr. Martin Siegel defined it as "pain in the neck." See RP (12/21/11) 631:13-14 (Siegel). Estate expert Dr. David Talan testified to a "continuum" that "progresses" from neck "pain" to an inability to put the chin to the chest. See RP (12/22/11) 785:19-25 (Talan). Defendants' expert Dr. Ronald Dobson defined nuchal rigidity as a "specific type of neck stiffness" involving the inability of the patient to move the neck "forward and back because that stretches the meninges" (RP (12/28/11) 1288:12-1289:1) and the irritation of the meninges produces "such an intense reflex spasm in the muscles that you can't move the head." Id. 1299:2-4 (Dobson) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Defendants' expert Dr. Dobson testified that the triad is present in 58 percent of cases of pneumococcal bacterial meningitis (the kind Ms. Skinner had). RP (12/28/11) 1368:13-25 (Dobson) (describing findings in the New England Journal of Medicine); *see* RP (12/21/11) 603:15-22 (Dr. Siegel) (Ms. Skinner had pneumococcal meningitis).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Defendants introduced into evidence the "charts" (i.e., the medical records) of Ms. Skinner's three visits to the Overlake emergency room (January 25, January 26 a.m., and January 26 p.m.) as three separate exhibits (Defendants' Exs. 101, 102, and 103). Each is sequentially paginated (e.g., "DEF 101-00001"), and the Defendants will cite to this pagination (e.g., "p. 2" for DEF. Ex. 101 mean "DEF 101-00002").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The diagnosis "influenza-like illness" was made in response to a Center for Disease Control directive regarding diagnosis where a sample swab for Influenza A or B came

lifted some heavy object during her travel to Seattle). *Id.* (pp. 5-6, "DIAGNOSIS"). She was given prescriptions for medicines to treat the flu-like symptoms and the neck strain. *Id.* (pp. 6-7, "PRESCRIPTION").

Ms. Skinner's condition deteriorated overnight, and she was brought back to Overlake early the morning of January 26. *See* Def. Ex. 102 (p. 2, noting "triage" arrival time of 7:14 a.m.). Ms. Skinner was vomiting. RP (12/21/11) 652:8-14 (Nurse Larkin). She complained of neck pain and a headache. Def. Ex. 102 (p. 2, "TRIAGE NOTES"). She described her pain as level 10 on the 1-10 pain scale, "the worst pain [she had] ever felt[.]" RP (12/21/11) 652:23-653:15 (Nurse Larkin); *see* Def. Ex. 102 (p. 2, "VITAL SIGNS," "Pain 10"). She reported she could not touch her chin to her chest. Def. Ex. 102 (p. 15, "NOTES"). The recording nurse testified she asked Ms. Skinner whether she could touch her chin to her chest because of concern about bacterial meningitis, given Ms. Skinner's complaint about headache and neck pain. RP (12/27/11) 1099:14-22 (Nurse Cella).<sup>7</sup>

back negative, as was the case with Ms. Skinner. See Def. Ex. 101 (p. 6, "ED COURSE" entry); RP (12/29/11) 1527:6-18 (Dr. Trione).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ms. Skinner also complained of fever and chills. See RP (12/20/11) 456:22-457:10 (C. Bede). The Estate implicitly admitted that Ms. Skinner's recorded temperatures never qualified as a fever. See RP (12/21/11) 579:19-22 (Estate expert Dr. Siegel) (admitting that a temperature greater than 100 degrees (Fahrenheit) is required to qualify as a fever), 580:22-581:4 (admitting Ms. Skinner had no documented fever). The Estate suggested this was due on January 26 to Ms. Skinner having her temperature recorded only soon after her arrival, implying her temperature would have qualified as a fever had it been measured later during her stay. See RP (12/21/11) 613:13-615:2 (Dr. Siegel, during redirect).

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