No. 68479-5-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JEFFREY BEDE, as Personal Representative of the Estate of LINDA SKINNER, Deceased,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

OVERLAKE HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER, a Washington corporation, and PUGET SOUND PHYSICIANS, PLLC, a Washington corporation,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Beth Andrus)

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

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

In addition to *Mayer* (discussed above), the Supreme Court's discussion of prior case law in *Burnet* confirms the above analysis. A defendant in *Burnet* argued that the sanction imposed by the trial court there was warranted under *Allied Financial Services, Inc. v. Mangum*, 72 Wn. App. 164, 868 P.2d 1 (1993), and *Dempere v. Nelson*, 76 Wn. App. 403, 886 P.2d 219 (1994). In both *Allied* and *Dempere*, the trial court excluded a witness who was not disclosed on the defendants' witness list. *Allied*, 72 Wn. App. at 167; *Dempere*, 76 Wn. App. at 406. The court in

*Burnet* distinguished both cases based on the severity of the sanctions imposed, noting that the trial court in *Burnet* "not only limited the Burnets' discovery on the credentialing issue, but it also removed that issue from the case." *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 496.

This Court's opinion in *Lancaster v. Perry*, 127 Wn. App. 826, 113 P.3d 1 (2005), is also instructive. In *Lancaster*, the trial court, similar to the trial court here, "entered an order excluding any undisclosed witnesses." 127 Wn. App. at 828. Consistent with that order, the trial court excluded a witness's testimony pursuant to KCLR 26(f) because the defendant failed to properly disclose the witness in his pretrial disclosure statement. *Id.*<sup>6</sup> Like defendants here, the defendant in *Lancaster* argued on appeal that "the trial court was required to follow the standard set forth in *Burnet* before excluding the witness's testimony." *Id.* at 831. This Court disagreed, holding: "*Burnet* does not apply here." *Id.* at 832. The same result applies equally here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In 2005, when the Court decided *Lancaster*, KCLR 26(f) stated: "Any person not disclosed in compliance with this rule may not be called to testify at trial, unless the Court orders otherwise for good cause and subject to such conditions [a]s justice requires." *Lancaster*, 127 Wn. App. at 831 (quoting KCLR 26(f)). The rule is now codified at KCLR 26(k)(4).

### b. Even If the *Burnet* Factors Applied—Which They Do Not—the Trial Court Addressed Them and Supported Its Ruling Accordingly.

While an evaluation of the *Burnet* factors was not necessary here, the trial court *did* consider them. When consideration of the *Burnet* factors is required, it must be "apparent from the record" that they were considered. *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 494. Here, the trial court did that *multiple* times. *See* RP 11:5-14:3 (discussing, among other things, the prejudice to plaintiff regarding the late disclosure of the photos), 282:22-286:12 (describing defendants' willful discovery violation and concluding that "defendants have not shown good cause for their failure to review the photos, to produce them before the discovery cutoff"). These rulings make it more than apparent from the record that the trial court considered and applied the *Burnet* factors before it excluded the autopsy photos.

The trial court then *confirmed and repeated* its analysis in its Supplemental Order Denying Defendants' Motion for New Trial. CP 1370-73. The court there acknowledged defendants' argument—asserted in a footnote of their motion for a new trial—that the court was required by *Blair v. TA-Seattle East No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011), to address the *Burnet* factors before excluding the autopsy photos. CP 1370. It responded by stating that "[w]hile the Court believes it put its *Blair [Burnet*] analysis on the record, the Court wishes to take this opportunity to articulate the basis for its initial exclusion during trial if the Court's analysis was not adequately documented previously." CP 1371.

The trial court then proceeded to address—*again*—each of the *Burnet* factors: it considered and rejected lesser sanctions (such as a continuance or a monetary sanction), it noted that defendants had not shown good cause for their failure to disclose the autopsy photos during discovery, and it considered the obvious prejudice to plaintiff were it to allow defendants to refer to and rely on the photos despite having produced them on the eve of trial. CP 1371-72. Thus, to the extent that the *Burnet* factors apply here, the trial court considered each and every one of those factors and did not abuse its discretion (let alone err) in excluding the autopsy photos as a discovery sanction.

Defendants attack the trial court's analysis in two ways. Their first such argument is that "the balancing came too late." App. Br. 33. Relying again on *Blair*, defendants claim that the *Burnet* analysis must be performed *during* trial (before the sanction is imposed), not afterwards. *Id.* But as noted above, the trial court *did* consider the *Burnet* factors before excluding the autopsy photos. As *Burnet* makes clear, all that is required in cases involving "harsher remedies" is that it be "apparent from the record that the trial court explicitly considered whether a lesser sanction would probably have sufficed, and whether it found that the disobedient party's refusal to obey a discovery order was willful or deliberate and substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial." 131 Wn.2d at 494. Here, that consideration is "apparent from the record" as required. *See* discussion on page 38 above.

Defendants' argument also fails because it is based on a misreading of *Blair*. In *Blair*, the appellee attempted to manufacture an analysis of "at least one of the *Burnet* factors, i.e., lesser sanctions," by juxtaposing two trial court orders excluding certain witnesses as a discovery sanction. 171 Wn.2d at 350. The Washington Supreme Court rejected that analysis and concluded that an order imposing discovery sanctions must be supportable at the time it is entered, not in "hindsight" by reference to another order. *Id.* Here, in contrast, plaintiff is not attempting to manufacture an analysis of the *Burnet* factors by juxtaposing multiple orders; that analysis can be found on the record (RP 11:5-14:3, 282:22-286:12) and is *independently confirmed* by the trial court's post-trial ruling. As such, there is no need to remand the case to the trial court to repeat that analysis.

Defendants' second argument regarding the trial court's *Burnet* analysis is that "the trial court's balancing failed on the merits." App. Br. 34. Defendants claim, for example, that "*nothing* in the record supports the notion that PSP's managing partner need only have walked down the

hall and asked Overlake's risk manager for the photos." *Id.* at 35. The record shows that Overlake's counsel provided the photos to PSP's attorney *promptly* upon request. CP 903. In addition, the salient point is that the photos should have been disclosed months earlier, when the autopsy reports were produced. As the trial court *correctly* concluded, the photos were "within the control of Defendant Overlake Hospital throughout the pendency of this lawsuit and easily accessible to Defendant PSP during the same period." CP 1372. The trial court did not err, let alone abuse its discretion, in so holding.

Defendants also claim that they cannot be faulted for failing to produce the autopsy photos earlier because the presence of pus "was not in dispute until the Estate changed its theory of the case just two weeks before trial." App. Br. 36. As set forth above, there was no such change. Regardless, defendants cannot properly withhold *discoverable* evidence simply because *they* do not believe it is essential to their theory of the case. As the trial court aptly noted, defendants and their counsel "need to take their discovery obligations seriously and need to diligently investigate the existence of relevant documents and produce them in a timely manner." CP 1371. In this respect as well, the trial court's *Burnet* analysis—if and to the extent necessary—is not "manifestly unreasonable or [] based on untenable grounds or reasons." *Mee*, 168 Wn. App. at 153.

## 3. If the Trial Court Erred in Excluding the Autopsy Photos, the Error Was Harmless.

As noted previously, even if a trial court abuses its discretion by excluding admissible evidence, the judgment should be affirmed unless the errors affected the outcome of the trial. ER 103(a); *Qwest Corp.*, 140 Wn. App. at 260 ("Error without prejudice is not grounds for reversal, and error is not prejudicial unless it affects the case outcome."). Washington law is equally clear that the erroneous exclusion of cumulative evidence is considered, at most, harmless error. *See Saldivar v. Momah*, 145 Wn. App. 365, 396, 186 P.3d 1117 (2008) (citing 5 Karl B. Tegland, *Washington Practice: Evidence Law & Practice* § 404.14, at 513 (5th ed. 2007)); *Silves v. King*, 93 Wn. App. 873, 885, 970 P.2d 790 (1999) (erroneous exclusion of cumulative evidence is harmless).

Here, even if the trial court erred in excluding the autopsy photos (which it did not), any such error was harmless. Although they now claim that the photos were extremely relevant to their theory of the case, when defense counsel was specifically asked whether Dr. Riedo could testify and give his opinions without the benefit of the photos he responded "absolutely," as they "were not necessary to his formation of his opinion." RP 979:13-980:2. The clear import of those statements—confirmed by examining the autopsy photos themselves—is that the autopsy photos would not have assisted defendants in avoiding liability for Dr. Anderton's

professional negligence, particularly because defendants' other expert witnesses *disagreed* with Dr. Riedo's opinion that Ms. Skinner had an abscess that ruptured while she was in the emergency department on January 26, 2010. RP 1137:10-1138:24, 1224:11-17.

In addition, although the trial court refused to admit the autopsy photos, it advised defendants that they "are free to use a diagram, free to use an illustration, in order to support your defense experts' testimony." RP 286:9-12. Consistent with the trial court's remark, defendants used several illustrative exhibits to support their experts' testimony. Defendant's Trial Ex. Nos. 130A-141A, 144. The autopsy photos would have been cumulative of those exhibits. They are also cumulative of the autopsy reports, which provide the same information in narrative form. Plaintiff's Trial Ex. 1, pp. 99, 100. As noted, the erroneous exclusion of such cumulative evidence is considered, at most, harmless error. Thus, even if the trial court's judgment.

### B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion or Otherwise Err by Allowing Plaintiff to Call Dr. Loeser in Rebuttal and Disallowing Surrebuttal.

Defendants also assign error to the trial court's rulings denying their motions to preclude Dr. Loeser from testifying in rebuttal and their request to present surrebuttal testimony. App. Br. 1. The "question of admissibility of evidence on rebuttal rests largely on the trial court's discretion, and error in denying or allowing it can be predicated only upon a manifest abuse of that discretion." *State v. White*, 74 Wn.2d 386, 395, 444 P.2d 661 (1968). Likewise, "[i]t is axiomatic that [the question of whether surrebuttal is authorized] ... [is] addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. The rulings of the court should stand unless we can say there has been a manifest abuse of discretion." *Jarstad v. Tacoma Outdoor Recreation*, 10 Wn. App. 551, 561, 519 P.2d 278 (1974).

The trial court's reasoning regarding defendants' motion to preclude Dr. Loeser from testifying in rebuttal can be found at RP 1567-69. The court began by noting that it had reviewed its notes of the trial testimony of Drs. Dobson, Maravilla, Riedo, and Wohns so that it could properly evaluate the parties' respective arguments. RP 1568:4-9. Based on that review, the court noted that there was "disagreement on standard of care." RP 1568:15-16. The trial court therefore concluded: "I am going to allow Loeser to testify in rebuttal in the plaintiff's case, and I am going to allow him to opine as to the standard of care." RP 1568:18-20; *see also* RP 1568:21-1569:5 (same).

Attacking that ruling, defendants cite decisions precluding plaintiffs from withholding substantial evidence on a subject for which they bear the burden of proof "*merely in order to present this evidence*  *cumulatively at the end of a defendant's case.*" App. Br. 47 (citing several decisions). Attempting to fit this case into that prohibition, defendants suggest that Dr. Loeser's testimony was cumulative of the testimony of plaintiff's other experts, Drs. Talan and Siegel, but delivered by a physician with impressive credentials. *Id.* at 48. But earlier in their brief, defendants complain that Dr. Loeser "went substantially beyond Drs. Siegel and Talan." *Id.* at 30.

Regardless, the fact that Dr. Loeser's testimony was—to some degree—cumulative of the testimony of Drs. Talan and Siegel and that it also addressed standard of care does not mean that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing it for at least two reasons. *First*, defendants seek a new trial not only on the issue of causation, but also on standard of care. App. Br. 45. This confirms—as the trial court concluded—that Dr. Riedo (who had been disclosed solely on the issue of causation) actually gave back-door standard-of-care opinions. *Second*, the Washington Supreme Court has expressly recognized that "[f]requently true rebuttal evidence will, in some degree, overlap or coalesce with the evidence in chief." *White*, 74 Wn.2d at 395. Common sense confirms that point: it is frequently essential to provide the necessary context for rebuttal testimony by reference to earlier testimony. Dr. Loeser's testimony was no different

in that regard, and the trial court did not err—let alone abuse its discretion—by permitting such testimony.

Turning to surrebuttal, the trial court explained that the "primary reason" for denying surrebuttal "is that the defense has had ample opportunity to elicit opinions from its expert witnesses that sets up this dispute, and I don't believe there's any need for any surrebuttal." RP Defendants relegate a single paragraph of the argument 1569:6-12. section of their brief to this issue, complaining that the trial court "erroneously gave the Estate the benefit of a new expert [Dr. Loeser] seeming to offer the final, definitive word on causation." App. Br. 50. Clearly, someone has to have the last word. As set forth above, the trial court here did not err in permitting Dr. Loeser to testify on rebuttal. While defendants would have preferred to have the final word on causation, "[i]t is not the function of surrebuttal to provide the defendant an opportunity to present evidence cumulative or confirmatory of that which has been, or ought to have been, presented in his case-in-chief." 14 Karl. B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Civil Procedure § 30.21, at 240-41 (2d ed. 2009). In this respect as well, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Finally, even if the trial court somehow abused its discretion with regard to rebuttal or surrebuttal, any such error was harmless. As to rebuttal, defendants' argument is that plaintiff was erroneously allowed to present cumulative testimony. App. Br. 49-50. But the "admission of evidence which is merely cumulative is not prejudicial error." *State v. Todd*, 78 Wn.2d 362, 372, 474 P.2d 542 (1970). As to surrebuttal, defendants argue on appeal (as they did at trial) that Dr. Riedo should have been permitted to respond to Dr. Loeser's testimony. App. Br. 50. Yet the record shows that Dr. Riedo was not available to testify in surrebuttal due to a scheduling conflict. CP 1334-35. Thus, even if the trial court erred in precluding such testimony (which it did not), the error was harmless.

### V. CONCLUSION

The jury returned a verdict in plaintiff's favor following a threeweek trial during which defendants had a full and fair opportunity to challenge plaintiff's theory and present their conflicting theories to the jury. The trial court did not err—let alone abuse its discretion—in excluding the autopsy photos, permitting Dr. Loeser to testify on rebuttal and denying defendants' request to present surrebuttal. The trial court's judgment on the jury's verdict should therefore be affirmed. DATED: October 24, 2012.

STOEL RIVES LLP

24

Leonard J. Feldman, WSBA No. 20961 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 624-0900 Facsimile: (206) 386-7500

PETERSON WAMPOLD ROSATO LUNA KNOPP

1 els

Michael S. Wampold, WSBA No. 26053 Ann H. Rosato, WSBA No. 32888 Felix G. Luna, WSBA No. 27087 1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 624-6800 Facsimile: (206) 682-1415

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent Jeffrey Bede